
THE VILLAGE HALL
Ever since the building of a National School in Teffont Magna in 1876 on land donated by the 14th Earl of Pembroke, which is described in the Section entitled “Schools and Education”, the main room of the Hall was used, in addition to Teffont’s primary education, as a centre of Village life.  For the years when it was the Village elementary, School, the main room was called the School Room.  When, in 1936, the building ceased to be a school, the main room became known as the Church Room and continued to be used for meetings and social life; it must have been a shock for the Village not only that the children who would have been expecting to start their education, now had to trek over to Dinton each day but that the costs of the building would no longer be paid by Wiltshire County Council.  The formalisation of the closure of the school was documented in a “SCHEME MADE BY THE BOARD EDUCATION UNDER THE CHARITABLE TRUSTS ACTS, 1853 TO 1925, IN THE MATTER OF THE TEFFONT MAGNA OLD NATIONAL SCHOOL” dated 31 May 1937.  One document about the School includes the comment “This closure was opposed strongly by the Parish.” 
For the next four years, the Church Room was run by Teffont Women’s Institute.  There are no minutes from the WI for this period but the Account Book shows that it was struggling financially. One interesting entry to the Account Book shows that, in 1937, the Hall was charged £4 13s 4d for electricity, the first reference we have managed to find to the availability of Mains Electricity in the village though it is likely that that is just a matter of lack of historical information.  Over these four years, the Hall was used for a number of “Wedding Breakfasts”, at least two folk dances and three Choral Society meetings.  For 1939, the Hall’s income was £9 3s 11d while its outgoings were £4 18s 7d so it was in profit but with little capability for any but the minimum of maintenance.  Very soon after Dunkirk, the building was requisitioned by the Army with the comment in the Account Book of “The Southern Command Land Agent on August 9 1940 took over the premises on a full repairing lease of £40.0.0 per annum from commencement of use to the End of War”.  The rent of £10.0.0 per quarter was paid regularly though in a number of cases the money concerned was “recycled” to the Army as it was used to purchase Defence Bonds.  By the end of 1945, the Hall had a credit balance of £63 11s 11d.  Early in 1946, the Hall successfully claimed for damage to the amount of £104 14s 0d resulting in a credit balance of just over £160.
 The Hall was de-requisitioned in January 1946 but, long before that, a lot of thought and discussion had started as to whether it could be taken over as a Village Hall.  A Village Hall sub-committee of the Parish Council, under the auspices of Brigadier Willan, was set up early in 1945 and they produced three possible schemes for a Parish Meeting to discuss.  
In parallel, starting on the 2nd January 1945, the rector of the time, Reverend Keatinge Clay, started a correspondence between himself, Brigadier Willan, Reverend Bailey who was, at that time, the Archdeacon and various other people to get agreement that the Hall might be available for purchase as a Village Hall.  The many letters include two from the then Earl of Pembroke confirming that, as the original owners of the land conveyanced to the Archdeacon in situ in 1876, the family would not be asking for its return to his Estate.  The Minister for Education in 1945 was one of those who had to agree to the sale and, after some difficulty, all the involved parties proved to be willing.  So now it was the matter of whether the Village had the money and, if so, was willing to spend it on one of the possible Schemes put forward to a Parish Meeting on 26 February 1946. 

Details of these three schemes, taken from the minutes of that Parish Meeting, are as follows:

Scheme 1

That the site and building known as the Old National School, Teffont be purchased for £150.  The plans for altering the building include the abolition of the existing conveniences and coal and coke store and the building of an extension of the present building on the site.  This would result in the doubling of the space available and is estimated to cost £2,550 plus the cost of furnishing and equipment to cost £600.  The total cost would therefore be £3,300.
Scheme 2

This would entail the alteration to the river end of the building and the installation of a stage. The present coke and coal store together with the existing conveniences would be removed and a kitchen installed in their place.  The present little school room would be converted into a refreshment room.  Proper Ladies and Gentleman’s toilet accommodation would be installed at the Western porch entrance.  Provision would be made for the installation of a proper dance floor.  The Committee estimated that the total cost of this scheme which would include the cost of the purchase of the existing building and complete furnishings at £1,200.  Under this scheme the estimated seating accommodation would be 90.
Scheme 3

That the school should not be bought by the Parish but should remain the property of the Ecclesiastical authorities in the hands of the Trustees who would act as landlords; they would let the building to a Parish Committee subject to the following safeguards as to its use.  (1)That the Church Parochial Council has adequate representation i.e. the same representation on the PCC as any other body represented in the Village according to the rules and conditions set out under the Model Trust Deed issued by the National Council of Social Services. (2)That the proposed Hall be available for Sunday School at normal hire services but should two or more bodies apply for the lease on a Sunday and all things being equal, the Church to have preference. (3)The Committee to agree that no entertainment to take place one hour before or after Church Services on Sunday without the consent of the Rector and Churchwardens.
The Parish Committee, set up to run the Village Hall, whose composition should be on the lines laid down by t he National Council of Social Services’ recommendation chosen from the following bodies if they exist in the Village (1) Parish Council, (2) Mothers Union, (3) Horticultural Society (4) British Legion, (5) Reading Room, (6) Library and Education, (7) Musical Society, (8) Sports Association.  The Committee would elect their own chairman and officers and would be responsible for the provision of all tenants’ fixtures, furniture and equipment but these would remain the property of the Committee.  It is estimated that to provide the above, the Committee would have to raise £250.  The landlords would have to put the building in repair, redecorate, repair and provide heating equipment, repair and replace the floor of the main building so as to provide a suitable dance floor, repair and improve cloakroom and toilet accommodation.
The rent to be:

The cost of external repairs and delapidations to the building, the cost of these to be assessed annually and paid over to the Trustees annually.
The Committee would fix charges for letting and would have to pay all heating, lighting, cleaning and other charges such as rates and taxes which might be assessed.  

The Scheme would not prevent the Parish at a later date from purchasing the School under the conditions at which it could now be purchased but a revaluation would be necessary.

The Chairman of the Committee, Brigadier Willan, then gave further details as to how money could be raised as loans from the National Council of Social Services.
A general discussion followed and afterwards it was moved by Mr Clark and seconded by Mrs Phillips that the meeting should adopt Scheme 3.  On being put to the meeting it was carried by 13 votes to 7 but as there were 34 persons at the meeting it was felt that the matter should be adjourned until a later date; this was agreed to be discussed at the Annual Parish Meeting on March 11th, almost a month away.
The Meeting moved on to really important matters like whether a Flower Show should be held that year!
The subject came up on the agenda of the Annual Parish Meeting on March 11th where most of the time was spent on the election of new Councillors (see Governance).  A suggestion was put forward that as an alternative to the Church Room as a Village Hall might be for an extension to the existing Reading Room.  It was agreed that this should be considered and it was decided that the wishes of the Youth Club, who were the main users of that building, should be ascertained first.
The first meeting of the new Parish Council was held on 15th April 1946 and the matter of the possible Village Hall was on the agenda. The trigger this time was a letter from Brigadier Willan to the Clerk suggesting that the Village Hall sub-committee be dissolved and offering his resignation as Chairman.  That letter no longer exists but was probably caused by frustration at the lack of any decision; the minutes for this Parish Council notes that they discussed the matter for an hour and that at the end, the Councillors decided unanimously that the matter “should lie on the table”.  The Council did agree that a letter of thanks should be written to Brigadier Willan.  In the summer, the WI who had taken over responsibility again used much of the Hall’s credit balance to buy a piano (£36) and 6 tables and 80 chairs (total cost £54.  Over the next few years, the Hall had virtually no income and was living on repayment of the Defence Bonds bought during the War – at one stage, in 1948, the Church (presumably the PCC) had to lend the Hall £35 for some months.  Luckily, apart from the Electricity bill, the outgoings were very small – George Bull was paid the princely sum of £4.0.0 per annum to be caretaker.
In the matter of the ownership of the Hall, nothing further happened until 1950 and, when it did, it came in the form of a letter from Canon Bailey to Brigadier Willan; although much of the letter was to do with the Dinton Primary School, it does tell us that “we” have become Trustees of the Teffont School and that, as such, “we” should be thinking of the letting or sale of the building.  It is not clear whether the “we” included Brigadier Willan but more probably was Canon Bayley and some of his colleagues.  A reply from Brigadier Willan just over a month later explains that the Teffont School was now let to the Teffont Women’s Institute at a nominal rent of one shilling a year on the understanding that they “pay all expenses connected with its upkeep ….and take any fees for lettings”. No-one was really expecting the School to pay its way.  The agreement was in writing but was not “stamped” – the copy we have which includes a three months notice period and is dated 12th March 1950, was signed by Brigadier Willan.  He concluded by suggesting that there should be no rush to change this arrangement.  There was no rush as can be seen by the fact that the next letter was some eight months later. It suggested that the School should either be sold or let it as the Ministry of Education was expressing an interest.  Letters came and went with suggestions for dates for all the parties to meet.  In late March 1951, Canon Bailey wrote to tell Brigadier Willan that it had been agreed that the Teffont PCC would take the School over as a Church Hall at a rent of £4 per year.
And there this scent goes somewhat cold!  Well perhaps not so cold as split between the matter of the PCC’s ownership of the Hall as opposed to its being let by the PCC to a Village Hall Committee and all that is involved by them in organisation and maintenance of this Victorian building.
To deal with the ownership first.  In January 1967, a special PCC meeting was called, the agenda for which included as its first item “To accept the offer for sale of the Old School and to decide in whose name the mortgage should be taken out”.  There are also three references in minutes of PCC meetings over the next three years to the payment of six tranches in all as payments towards the total sum of £750 – the minutes of a June 1970 PCC Meeting includes the sentence Group Captain Willan reported that both heating for the rectory and installments on the Old School were paid for but the PCC still owed one installment on the Old School.  In 2007 a query was raised by the Diocesan Board of Finance re the second mortgage of £750.  To understand this, you need to read the notes on the January 1967 Agenda which include “We have now received an offer from the Diocesan Council of Education, to sell to us the Old School, this will allow us to buy the school on attractive terms.  In effect, we shall be required to pay a total of £750 and a further of £750 will remain owing on an indefinite mortgage, which will be free of interest.”
“We have paid £150, we can pay another £150 now, and we shall be required to pay another £150 in January 1968. 69 and 70.  We shall be required to take out a local mortgage for the remaining £750 and this will only have to be paid if we sell the school”.

“The Rector and Church Wardens recommend that this offer be accepted because otherwise we shall probably loose (sic) the school”. The various minutes quoted above show that the sale was agreed and that the Hall is owned by the PCC.  Further evidence is available in that the minutes of a Parish Council meeting held on 14th February 1966 included the sentence “Mr W F Crouch stated that due to the pending sale of the Church Room….”  The legal file is held by the Salisbury Diocesan Board of Finance (which is a requirement for property owned by any PCC).  The mortgage of £750 remains outstanding in favour of the Diocesan Board of Education. 
Though the ownership paper trail is not extensive, it seems conclusive. One very clear letter, dated 24 February 1967, from Margery Blyde, then secretary to the PCC, to Erna Gledhill, then secretary of the Teffont Branch of the WI, includes the sentence “I am writing to inform you that the Teffont Parochial Church Council has purchased the old School in order to retain it as an amenity for the village”
Forty years later, in 2007, the Diocese apparently raised this subject and, as a result, there was an exchange of E–Mails mainly involving Hugh Homan, Malcolm McBain and Andrew Wiltshire though other people were copied in.  The remainder of the papers found to date are mainly the rest of the 2007 E-Mail exchange. 

 The following conclusions drawn from them are that:
The Village Hall is a Charitable Trust for the people of Teffont.
The Village Hall is registered with the Charity Commission under No 800083.

The Trustees are the rector and the Churchwardens – not the PCC.
The Diocese has no legal involvement in this matter.
As far as can be ascertained, although the PCC acquired the Hall in early 1967, no lease was drawn up until 1987.  The original lease from the Diocesan Board of Finance to the Village Hall Charity was signed on 29th 1987 and has recently been extended for twenty years from 31st December 2006.  Copies of various versions of the lease, mainly drafts, are held as is a copy of the Hall’s Constitution which was updated and adopted by the Village Hall Committee on 16th September 2014. 
So much for the ownership of the Village Hall and the lease which governs it.  Let us look now at its maintenance and usage where we pick up what information can be gleaned from the Account Book which covers from 1936 to 1981; the first fourteen years, until 1950, have been mainly covered earlier though it is worth mentioning the payment to the RAF in September 1946 of £10 with no obvious justification – no idea what that was for.  It was this year when the Hall had to borrow £35 from the PCC for a few weeks.  Almost all the income at this period was found by selling Defence Bonds.  Maintenance is obviously necessary as a bill for £50 “on account of work” by Ron Lever was paid.  The following year his bill was almost £100 and was paid by selling more of the Hall’s Defence Bonds.  From 1952, there are entries, both of £4 paid by the WI to the Hall and then from the Hall to the Diocesan Finance Board for the rent which was part of the 1950 agreement as described earlier.
1956 saw the Village Hall’s accounts being audited for the first time – a necessity as, earlier, one bill, for George Bull’s caretaking – appeared on the income page!  To make the Hall solvent, it was necessary in 1958 to depend on a Jumble Sale which produced a profit of over £32, virtually half the Hall’s income for the year.  1959 found the Hall in an  even more financially parlous state – it had to borrow £100 from Mr W F Crouch and either borrow or have a gift,  the sum of £75 from Brigadier Willan – all that on top of another Jumble Sale producing just over £30.  This extra income was to be swallowed up by £207 worth of bills again from Ron Lever.  1962 was the year when a tradition established of raising £20 per year from a produce plant sale – this went on for a number of years with a final one gaining £108.  The Hall requested and received the first of its Local Government grants, this time for £66.  All this extra income was necessary as (hurrah, hurrah) it was agreed to order an oil fired boiler.  This came from John Carter and Son of Salisbury – at a cost of £112 17s 0d to which was added a further £68 billed by Ron Lever for help.  As far as the loans/gifts, they appear, apart from £25 of Mr Crouch’s £100 which was repaid, to become gifts.
From 1965 onwards, there were small payments made by the Flower Show which reflect that this is the last year before the Show moved, for a dozen or so years, to the Village Hall,   In 1969, the Flower show lent the Hall £75 but the biggest expense was in 1970 when the Hall Committee spent £450 in getting Ron Lever put in a false ceiling to save the heat coming from the new boiler and improve the acoustics; the bill for this was mainly paid for by a Local Government grant of £200 with one of a £100 from the Reading Room; the year finished with an overdraft of just over £50.

One would like to think that the fact that from 1967, the Hall was owned by the Village and had a Committee reflecting all the different organizations in it that the usage of the facilities available would seriously increase but that was not to be the case.  Although the inflation from then to now covering some 50 years makes comparisons difficult, it  is disappointing to note that total income for 1967 was only £45 with each of the WI and the Youth Club contributing £8 of that. 1968 was different with the cost of the new boiler but the usage of the now heated Hall does not sound as if a good business case for the boiler was justified.  1969 was worse still.  A total income of £79 was made up of a loan from the Flower Show of £75 and two charges (one for the Parish Council and the other for the WI) of £2 each.  One can only conclude that the Committee was not doing a proper job; perhaps everyone was waiting for the false ceiling which was built in 1970.  1971 was a little better from an income point of view but the expense level meant   that at a total expenditure of £112, the overdraft increase had more than doubled.  In 1972, a change of handwriting makes it look likely that the Committee had a new Treasurer – one who increased the income and started to pay off the overdraft; regrettably there is little detail behind this.  By keeping maintenance expense at a minimum, the overdraft was not only wiped out but by the end of 1973 but there was a credit balance of over £80.  1974 saw a windfall in the form of £200 from Mere and Tisbury Rural District Council when that organization was disbanded in the Local Government reorganisation of 1974; as a result, some improvement was able to be spent on the kitchen at a cost of just over £50.  This work was undertaken by a local firm of kitchen fitters called Fry and Pyke.  From 1975 to 1980, the account book pages are numbered but have their content blank although there typed summary accounts for 1980 where the Balance in hand is just over £259.

That is where the Account Book that started in 1930 ends although there is a minute book covering the years of 1996 to 1999 and very comprehensive summary accounts for the years 1997/8 and 1998/9. It is fascinating to see the differences between 1981 and 1996 – in these fifteen years, the Committee matured from rank amateurism to a well organised professional structure.  By the time these minutes were written, a major maintenance and enhancement progamme which is only now being completed was beginning to be put into place.  That has been expensive and the Committee has been successful in both obtaining Local Government grants and in applying money raised by the Teffont Trust which is described elsewhere.  It is hoped that more recent documents covering the last twenty years will become available so that the history becomes more complete but for now, it will summarise what improvements to the building and its contents have been made – and also list the many innovative ways the Hall has been used in recent years.
To start with the improvements to the building and its contents (in no particular order):
New central heating


Re-entry of mains electricity


Small kitchen window replaced (John Hyde’s legacy)


Large kitchen custom window replaced


Large hall custom window replaced


Large hall standard windows replaced


Kitchen, utility room and store refurbished


All toilets upgraded and decorated


False ceiling removed and decorated


New AV system and projector lamp purchased and installed


Loop purchased and installed


New comfortable chairs purchased
In plan but not yet complete are:

Roof repairs

Work on the window boxes and the grass area

A new porch on the West side of the Hall

One enhancement to the Hall was not the responsibility of the Village Hall Committee but it not only permitted it to happen but gained from it – this was the purchase and installation by the Parish Council of some limited pieces of playground equipment.  The background to this was a system established by Salisbury District Council by which anyone building or extending a dwelling had to make a contribution to the cost of some outside sporting facilities and that money was transferred to the relevant Parish Council to be used for something that matched some quite strict criteria.  The system was called R2 (named after a paragraph number in the District Council’s Plan that documented it) and the money waiting to be used, which had to be spent within 5 years of the development being started, was called R2 Money.  Teffont’s Parish Council had amassed about £5000 by 2007 and was in danger of losing it because of the deadlines. Finding somewhere to set up a small Playground was not an easy problem and which explained why such a pot of gold had built up.  A great deal of effort was put in by the Parish Council’s Clerk, Zillah Faulkner, with support from the Council’s Chairman, to get the necessary approvals and produce an acceptable layout.  The idea of using some or all of the garden space around the Hall was not particularly popular with many of the members of the Hall Committee, mainly on grounds of safety; there had, in the years shortly before, been a couple of accidents where vehicles got close to or actually hit the Hall.  A lot of debate ensued and, in the end, the Committee only agreed when the plans included a large metal barrier, itself screened by shrubs to act as a safety precaution.  Expensive but effective! The first installation was just three pieces of equipment, a swing, a see-saw and a climbing tower and slide.  Later, when there was general agreement that the Playground, though small, was a positive advantage to the Hall and to the whole village, a further two or three pieces of smaller equipment, more suitable to younger children, were added.
So much for spending money – all in very good causes but now we need to know how it was raised and how, in the raising, the Hall was used as an asset to the Community and its guests.  Again there is quite a long list – in due course, it is hoped that the list will be expanded to give a lot more historical detail of this period.

Between 1999 and 2014 the following were booked for performances in the Hall


Hatstand Opera


Rural Arts, Wiltshire


Old Forge Theatre


Moviola Films until they decided our audiences were too small

Teffont Film Club which started once the equipment was bought and shows


about 9 films a year


Occasional concerts and talks
The Hall was used for a variety of educational opportunities such as


Pilates course


Art classes

Music classes

Bristol University courses until we ran out of lecturers

History of Arts Classes

The Hall was and is used for a variety of social events such as:


Pig and Whistle evenings


Quiz nights


Harvest suppers


Weddings 


Children’s parties

And for Meetings:

Garden Club


Parish Council


Parish Meetings


Junior Wildlife Club

Village Hall Committee


PCC

And best of all – The Saturday Morning Bakery (later known as Teffont Café)
We have seen the history of this small building from its inception as a typical Wiltshire Village School, with its highs and its lows, its successes and its moments of near-bankruptcy; we have also seen both the physical improvements and the professional way it has developed in the last twenty years.  We have been very lucky in the talented people who have decided to live here and offer those talents to this Community.  Long may it last.
 P S 
One measure of the Hall’s success is the comparison of its Account Balance


May 1936

£2 17s 5d


August 2014

£2646.70
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